
  

LAKE FOREST LIBRARY BOARD OF TRUSTEES 

Lake Forest Library, 360 East Deerpath Road, Lake Forest, IL 60045 
Kasian Room, Lower Level 

 
Tuesday, January 21, 2025, 6:30 pm 

Regular Meeting  
 
The Lake Forest Library provides members of the public present at the meetings with 
an opportunity to participate in the meeting. No prior registration is necessary. The 
meeting agenda and materials are available on the Library website. The meeting's 
minutes are available on the Library website after they are approved by the Library 
Board of Trustees. Current and past meeting information, including recordings, is 
available at: Board Meetings & Minutes | Lake Forest Library 
 
 
 

Agenda 
 

1. Welcome and Call to Order 
2. Roll Call 
3. President’s Remarks 
4. Call for Additions to the Agenda 
5. Opportunity for the Public to Address the Board 
6. Correspondence Report and Patron Comments 
7. Consent Agenda (omnibus vote on matters 7(a) - 7(d): 

a. Approve January 21, 2025 Agenda 
b. Approve December 17, 2024 Regular Meeting Minutes 
c. Approve December 2024 Financial Report 
d. Approve January 15, 2025 Finance Committee Meeting Minutes 

8. Building Committee: 
a. Request for Qualifications - Centennial Projects: 1931 Historic Rooms 

Revitalization – Draft  
b. Update on other projects 

9. Mariani Landscaping Services Contract for 2025 
10. Finance Committee 

a. Library/City of Lake Forest Memorandum of Understanding – revision 
11. FY2025 Illinois Public Library Per Capita and Equalization Aid Grant - draft 
12. Library Operations Report 
13. Unfinished Business 
14. New Business 
15. Adjournment.  

 
Upcoming Meetings: Regular Board: March 18, 2025.  

 

https://www.lakeforestlibrary.org/board-meetings


  

Special meetings may be called at any time with proper notice pursuant to the Library’s 
bylaws. Individuals with disabilities who require certain accommodations in order to allow 
them to observe and/or participate in this meeting, or who have questions regarding the 
accessibility of the meetings or the facilities are requested to contact the Library Director at 
847.810.4602 promptly to allow the Library to make reasonable accommodations. 

PUBLIC COMMENT AT BOARD MEETINGS POLICY 

The Illinois Open Meetings Act provides in Section 2.06 that at meetings of public bodies, 
“any person shall be permitted an opportunity to address public officials under the rules 
established and recorded by the public body.” 5 ILCS 120/2.06(g).  

The Board of Trustees welcomes public participation. This policy provides the following rules 
and guidelines for public participation at its meetings. 

Individuals attending board meetings must conduct themselves with respect and civility 
toward others. Abusive, profane, threatening, or harassing language and/or personal attacks 
will not be permitted. The Board President or presiding officer may prohibit further comment 
at the meeting by a speaker whose remarks violate this rule.  

Public comments are permitted during the time designated on the Board of Trustees meeting 
agenda, unless otherwise directed by the Board President.  

The Board President determines the order in which speakers will be recognized.  

When recognized by the Board President, the speaker should begin by stating his or her 
name and address.  

Public comments will ordinarily be limited to three (3) minutes per speaker. The Board 
President shall have discretion to modify this time limit, as well as to limit repetitive 
comments. 

Members of the public will not be allowed to speak a second time until all members of the 
public who wish to speak have been allowed to do so. The Board President will determine 
whether second public comments will be permitted, and if so, the appropriate amount of time 
for public discussion, and will end public comment at his/her discretion.  

Board members are not obligated to respond to comments from the public. Issues requiring 
possible action by the board may be added to a future meeting agenda, and issues that can 
be addressed by library administration will be noted.  

A copy of these guidelines will be placed next to the sign-in sheet made available to members 
of the public at the entrance to board meetings. 

Petitions or written correspondence directed to the board shall be presented to the board by 
the Board President or Secretary at the next regularly scheduled board meeting.  

Minutes are a summary of the board’s discussion and actions. Speaker requests to append 
written statements or correspondence to the minutes are not favored. Generally, written 
materials presented to the board will be included in the library’s files rather than in the 
minutes. The Board President shall have the authority to determine procedural matters 
regarding public participation not otherwise defined in these guidelines. (Approved by the Library 
Board of Trustees January 9, 2018.) 







OTHER VIEWS  COMMENTARY

Library makerspaces help enrich our communities
A University of Illinois professor explains her research on the bene�ts of Chicago-area public library makerspaces, where patrons can use tools

and machines to create, repair or just tinker around.

By  Kyungwon Koh   Jan 14, 2025, 6:03am CST

The Sun-Times is community-funded.
Donate now to support Chicago news.

DONATE NOW

This �le photo from July 1, 2020 shows the �rst �oor of Chicago Public Library’s Merlo Branch in Lakeview. Libraries aren’t just for books anymore. Makerspaces have become widely popular, a

researcher writes. Pat Nabong/Sun-Times

SHARE COPY LINK

The Sun-Times is free but the journalism is not. Reader support powers the news. Here's how you can help.

Log In Donate

https://chicago.suntimes.com/other-views
https://chicago.suntimes.com/opinion
https://chicago.suntimes.com/kyungwon-koh
https://chicago.suntimes.com/become-a-member?_ptid=%7Bkpdx%7DAAAAwTJmY9vzhAoKRlYwY3pXQU9mZRIQbTV6cXR0cGllcmY0cHE3NBoMRVhMT09WOEI4NzkwIiUxODA4Y2QwMGM0LTAwMDAzNTNnbDNhaTZtNTZtNTM0aXJ0YmlnKhtzaG93VGVtcGxhdGVVTjRHRFNNRk9CVkNUUkcwAToMT1RDVlZNQk02UlVXQg1PVFY4MVRJQk9YQ1NCUhJ2LYUA8BhvdXdpNXgyazZaDTEyLjM4LjIwNS4xNDZiA2R3Y2iE6Kq8BnACeAQ
https://chicago.suntimes.com/public-media-is-a-public-good?tpcc=FY25-SitewideBanner-HardCost-Onsite
https://chicago.suntimes.com/
https://chicago.suntimes.com/become-a-member


Over 50% of Americans’ New Year’s resolutions are cutting back on spending and saving more in 2025. While many are
looking for ways to reduce everyday costs, there’s a community resource already available year-round: the library makerspace.

A makerspace is a hands-on space where people can create, repair, and tinker. It is equipped with tools like sewing machines,
power tools, soldering kits, laser cutters, and more, along with workshops and support.

From tailoring clothes and repairing gadgets to crafting personalized gifts, library makerspaces offer an affordable way for
people of all ages to save money while building skills and creativity.

Since the introduction of the first public library makerspace at the Fayetteville Free Library in 2011, the number of library
makerspaces has grown significantly. In 2013, the American Library Association spotlighted the Maker Movement, with its
Center for the Future of Libraries identifying it as a key trend shaping library services. The inaugural White House Maker Faire
in 2014 further amplified national support.

Opinion

More than a decade later, surveys reveal that nearly 90% of the over 9,000 public libraries in the U.S. offer maker
programming and 40% have maker production equipment.

Yet one proposed bill in Indiana attempted to restrict libraries to a narrow set of “core functions”— providing access to
materials, quiet study spaces, technical help, and basic services. But such efforts fail to recognize the evolving role of today’s
libraries and their non-traditional services that meet the needs of a rapidly changing society.

At the heart of a public library’s mission is access to information. Traditionally, this meant books, newspapers, and magazines
— text- or print-based resources. Today, information is shared, stored, and experienced in various formats, including digital,
three-dimensional, and hands-on forms.

Historically, libraries have responded to changing needs, providing books when they were scarce and computers before they
were household staples. Now, makerspaces broaden access to tools that individuals might not otherwise be able to afford.

Numerous studies over the past decades suggest that these spaces foster essential skills, such as design, prototyping, digital
literacy, creativity, and problem-solving, as well as community building. For underserved communities, this support can be
transformative, enabling participation in the knowledge economy or simply encouraging creativity for its own sake.

My research team at the University of Illinois at Urbana-Champaign conducted an Institute of Museum and Library Services-
funded study that examined the impact of library makerspaces through interviews with library users, non-users, youth, staff,
and community stakeholders in several Chicago-area towns, including Indian Trails Public Library District, DeKalb Public
Library, and Joliet Public Library.

The data shows that makerspaces support the core missions of libraries in innovative and expanded ways, reflecting the core
values of social equity, access, and public good.

Research participants reported that these libraries are a source of pride for their community and a valuable resource for their
families.

Makerspaces are just one example of the many non-traditional services today’s libraries offer.

Moving into a new year, it is important to reaffirm the commitment to the vital role of public libraries. While concerns about the
potential impact of Project 2025 on library funding are significant, libraries must remain a steadfast public good that transcends
political divides.

Their funding cannot be subject to the shifting tides of political change. Libraries stand as cornerstones of democracy, lifelong
learning, community, and cultural heritage—values that unite all.

https://kslnewsradio.com/2168449/new-year-spending-resolutions/?t
https://urldefense.com/v3/__https:/www.taylorfrancis.com/chapters/edit/10.4324/9781315143422-3/makerspaces-libraries-kyungwon-koh-june-abbas-rebekah-willett__;!!DZ3fjg!98MwialRMMe45ODCs6LiGaLQIw9VKO0Oj22UuENfc9OTNlUoltINTeuP6U0ZRouayDi7c_o_OijgRKQjNillwLs$
https://urldefense.com/v3/__https:/americanlibrariesmagazine.org/2013/02/06/manufacturing-makerspaces/__;!!DZ3fjg!98MwialRMMe45ODCs6LiGaLQIw9VKO0Oj22UuENfc9OTNlUoltINTeuP6U0ZRouayDi7c_o_OijgRKQjCWItX8I$
https://urldefense.com/v3/__https:/www.ala.org/tools/atoz/makerspaces__;!!DZ3fjg!98MwialRMMe45ODCs6LiGaLQIw9VKO0Oj22UuENfc9OTNlUoltINTeuP6U0ZRouayDi7c_o_OijgRKQjnJ-hv0A$
https://urldefense.com/v3/__https:/www.ala.org/future/trends/makers__;!!DZ3fjg!98MwialRMMe45ODCs6LiGaLQIw9VKO0Oj22UuENfc9OTNlUoltINTeuP6U0ZRouayDi7c_o_OijgRKQj9cbQaSg$
https://urldefense.com/v3/__https:/obamawhitehouse.archives.gov/nation-of-makers__;!!DZ3fjg!98MwialRMMe45ODCs6LiGaLQIw9VKO0Oj22UuENfc9OTNlUoltINTeuP6U0ZRouayDi7c_o_OijgRKQjC9cR9Iw$
https://s3.amazonaws.com/WebVault/surveys/LJSLJ_MakerProgramsInPublicLibraries_May2017.pdf?t
https://s3.amazonaws.com/WebVault/surveys/LJSLJ_MakerProgramsInPublicLibraries_May2017.pdf?t
https://urldefense.com/v3/__https:/www.ala.org/sites/default/files/2024-07/PLA_Tech_Survey_Report_2024.pdf?t__;!!DZ3fjg!98MwialRMMe45ODCs6LiGaLQIw9VKO0Oj22UuENfc9OTNlUoltINTeuP6U0ZRouayDi7c_o_OijgRKQjDbfJSFo$
https://urldefense.com/v3/__https:/indianapublicmedia.org/news/indiana-libraries-face-drastic-funding-changes-limits-to-activities-in-senate-bill.php?utm_source=chatgpt.com__;!!DZ3fjg!98MwialRMMe45ODCs6LiGaLQIw9VKO0Oj22UuENfc9OTNlUoltINTeuP6U0ZRouayDi7c_o_OijgRKQj96RaXjc$
https://urldefense.com/v3/__https:/www.ala.org/advocacy/intfreedom/access*:*:text=Through*20a*20common*20mission*2C*20publicly,community*20that*20the*20library*20serves.__;I34lJSUlJSUlJSU!!DZ3fjg!98MwialRMMe45ODCs6LiGaLQIw9VKO0Oj22UuENfc9OTNlUoltINTeuP6U0ZRouayDi7c_o_OijgRKQjTgIJuiM$
https://www.taylorfrancis.com/books/edit/10.4324/9781315726519/makeology-kylie-peppler-erica-halverson-yasmin-kafai
https://ischool.illinois.edu/
https://urldefense.com/v3/__https:/www.measuringmakerspaces.com/__;!!DZ3fjg!98MwialRMMe45ODCs6LiGaLQIw9VKO0Oj22UuENfc9OTNlUoltINTeuP6U0ZRouayDi7c_o_OijgRKQj0qW64dw$
https://urldefense.com/v3/__https:/www.measuringmakerspaces.com/__;!!DZ3fjg!98MwialRMMe45ODCs6LiGaLQIw9VKO0Oj22UuENfc9OTNlUoltINTeuP6U0ZRouayDi7c_o_OijgRKQj0qW64dw$
https://urldefense.com/v3/__https:/www.indiantrailslibrary.org/services/launch-pad/__;!!DZ3fjg!98MwialRMMe45ODCs6LiGaLQIw9VKO0Oj22UuENfc9OTNlUoltINTeuP6U0ZRouayDi7c_o_OijgRKQjWNnwZrw$
https://urldefense.com/v3/__https:/dkpl.org/309-creative/__;!!DZ3fjg!98MwialRMMe45ODCs6LiGaLQIw9VKO0Oj22UuENfc9OTNlUoltINTeuP6U0ZRouayDi7c_o_OijgRKQjuPHjCEA$
https://urldefense.com/v3/__https:/dkpl.org/309-creative/__;!!DZ3fjg!98MwialRMMe45ODCs6LiGaLQIw9VKO0Oj22UuENfc9OTNlUoltINTeuP6U0ZRouayDi7c_o_OijgRKQjuPHjCEA$
https://urldefense.com/v3/__https:/jolietlibrary.org/digital-media-studio/__;!!DZ3fjg!98MwialRMMe45ODCs6LiGaLQIw9VKO0Oj22UuENfc9OTNlUoltINTeuP6U0ZRouayDi7c_o_OijgRKQjT-Ey7Fk$
https://urldefense.com/v3/__https:/www.ala.org/advocacy/advocacy/intfreedom/corevalues__;!!DZ3fjg!98MwialRMMe45ODCs6LiGaLQIw9VKO0Oj22UuENfc9OTNlUoltINTeuP6U0ZRouayDi7c_o_OijgRKQjpubDbkA$
https://urldefense.com/v3/__https:/www.ala.org/advocacy/advocacy/intfreedom/corevalues__;!!DZ3fjg!98MwialRMMe45ODCs6LiGaLQIw9VKO0Oj22UuENfc9OTNlUoltINTeuP6U0ZRouayDi7c_o_OijgRKQjpubDbkA$
https://urldefense.com/v3/__https:/www.everylibraryinstitute.org/report_project_2025__;!!DZ3fjg!98MwialRMMe45ODCs6LiGaLQIw9VKO0Oj22UuENfc9OTNlUoltINTeuP6U0ZRouayDi7c_o_OijgRKQjnu1oeB8$
https://urldefense.com/v3/__https:/www.everylibraryinstitute.org/report_project_2025__;!!DZ3fjg!98MwialRMMe45ODCs6LiGaLQIw9VKO0Oj22UuENfc9OTNlUoltINTeuP6U0ZRouayDi7c_o_OijgRKQjnu1oeB8$


Page 1 of 3 
 

SELECTED PATRON COMMENTS 

DECEMBER 2024 

 
• A father's comment about staff member Claire Thomas helping a child find the funniest 

books: She's great! 
 

• Investment Resources post on Instagram. Resources mentioned are Investors Business 
Daily, Morningstar, Value Line, and S & P. "That's a fantastic resource!" 

 
• A patron came in today to peruse a book we borrowed for him through our Interlibrary 

loan department. This title is for "in library use only", it retails for $380. He was very 
appreciative of our efforts to make this volume accessible to him, saying he "loves our 
library and the people in it". 

 
• About the Children's Library: This is a beautiful space! 

 
• Patron commented that she felt we used to have a lot more launchpads for 3 year olds. 

 
• Child informed me that she saw me at her school for a storytime and that she had a lot of 

fun that day. 
 

• Several patrons thanked us for hosting Great Decisions and expressed how much they 
enjoy the discussions. They also mentioned what a great job Krista does with keeping the 
attendees informed and up to date with all the information that they need. 

 
• Thank you! Thank you! Thank you! You guys do amazing programs. 

 
• A patron commented on her way out of the Library that it was a bit too crowded in the 

play area so they will come back another time. 
 

• A patron was hoping we could open the Kasian room for more play space for her little 
one. She said it was getting really crammed in the puppet stage area. We had other 
programs and meetings that were set up and told her we could not open it today. 

 
• Facebook Direct Message: Thank you for making studying so fun for the HS students … 

all the food, face masks and bath salts - truly drew them in. Thank you for the creativity-
well done! 

 
• We were tagged in a favorite Lake Forest Spots post on Instagram from Jameson 

Sotheby's International Realty who opened a new office in the city which featured a video 
and showed the front of the Library. "Now introducing our new office in Lake Forest 
located at 560 Oakwood Ave. Suite 101, Lake Forest, IL, 60045 Enjoy a tour around 
some of our favorite Lake Forest spots to celebrate! #LakeForestIllinois #NewOffices 
#ChicagolandRealEstate @thelakeforestshop @gerhardsdesserts @lf_bookstore 
@lakeforestlibrary @deerpathinn" 

 



Page 2 of 3 
 

• I swear my daughter only wants recommendations from you [Emmy], she comes down 
here and looks for you everywhere before she's willing to talk to anyone else! 
 

• LinkedIn Exam Escape Post: Thank you so much for doing this! My daughters attend 
Woodlands and were thrilled at the snacks! 

 
• Thank you so much for all the food! It really is too nice of you. 

 
• Local teacher commented: The 3d print that you made for my student is so cute. My 

student was beyond ecstatic when I gave him the print. Another teacher came to check 
on us because his happy squeals sounded like he was crying. It was really sweet. Thank 
you so much. 

 
• The food is AWESOME! I can't believe we get Portillo's! I actually look forward to this 

week knowing you guys have this for us. 
 

• Thank you so much for all the food! It's so nice of you! I've never been before, I'm so glad 
my friends brought me. 

 
• Student: "this is the best library ever" Thanked us for the snacks and supplies available. 

 
• We are the best library because we provide snacks. This is the reason why I am here. 

 
• Patron in the stacks thanked me for a past book recommendation and commented on 

how helpful adult services staff are at helping her find books she enjoys and which she in 
turn recommends to her friends. 

 
• 3D Printing Together for Grades 3–5 with an Adult: Holiday Cookie Cutters: What a fun 

class! Liam was excited to pick up his creation!  
 

• 3D Printing with Daisy Girl Scout Troop 47923 Hi Chad, I just wanted to take a moment 
to thank you and Ming for a fantastic morning with our troop! The girls loved seeing all 
the items created by the 3D printer, watching the tugboat being printed, and trying their 
hands at TinkerCad. I really appreciate all the preparation, thought, and leadership you 
put into the meeting to make it such a success. I know the girls enjoyed learning and 
experimenting with the TinkerCad software. 

 
• My family is visiting from Arizona and we are library people, but we've never seen one as 

cool as this! Your Children's Department is just gorgeous! 
 

• I can't believe you guys feed the teens during finals--that is the nicest thing I've ever 
heard. It would have made such a difference for my boys if they had somewhere like this 
to go when they were in school. What wonderful changes you all have made in the last 
few years. This program must be really special, I know you’re making great memories for 
all those kids. 

 
• A patron was thankful for our speedy ILL service. He said it saved him $1500 because 

that's how much the book cost to purchase it. 



Page 3 of 3 
 

 
• Received a lot of positive comments and feedback after Chef Susan Maddox program on 

12/5 and several patrons commented that we should have her back for another program: 
"This program was fantastic! I learned so much. How often do you have these?" "Thank 
you! This was a great program tonight." "She's great--I hope you have her back again. I 
have seen her at Dickinson Hall. She would be great on TV." 

 
• A former shelver stopped at the Lake Forest Library with his Dad to look around and get 

a Library card for his Father. He had many fond memories of working and using the 
Library while attending school. 

 
• After two Storytimes at First Presbyterian Preschool, the director Suzanne Brunner said 

she and her teachers are grateful for our collaboration. The parents are very enthusiastic 
about us coming to the preschool monthly and have appreciated the reminder to visit 
their local library. Suzanne finished with the Lake Forest Library, a real gem in this 
community! 

 
• Patron very thankful that Annalisa put books on hold for her while she was in a program 

this afternoon. 
 
 
 

 
********************************************************************************* 



Page 1 of 4 
 

 Lake Forest Library Board of Trustees 
 

City Hall Chambers, 220 East Deerpath Road 
 

Tuesday, December 17, 2024 
 

Regular Meeting 
 
CALL TO ORDER 
Vice President Desmond welcomed all and called the meeting to order on December 17, 2024 at 
6:30 in the City Hall Chambers. 
 
ROLL CALL 
Trustees present: Vice President JoAnn Desmond, Trustee Josh Jackson, Trustee John J. 
Johnson, Trustee Garth Pearson, Trustee Robert Shaw, Trustee Vince Sparrow, Trustee Heather 
Strong, Trustee Emily Van Bel. A quorum was present. 
 
Trustee absent: Jim Clifton 
 
Library Staff present: Ishwar Laxminarayan, Executive Director 
Facilities Manager Jim Lee, Kate Buckardt, Head of Adult Services, Heidi Kruger, Director of 
Patron Services, Joy Schmoll, Head of Communications, Leo Hamza, Business Manager, Susan 
Athenson, Circulation Assistant. 
 
PRESIDENT’S REMARKS 
Vice President Desmond welcomed everyone and thanked City Hall for allowing the meeting to 
take place in their space. She reflected on the continued collaboration with City Hall and 
expressed gratitude for the opportunity. 
 
CALL FOR ADDITIONS TO THE AGENDA 
None. 
 
OPPORTUNITY FOR THE PUBLIC TO ADDRESS THE BOARD 
None. 
 
CORRRESPONDENCE REPORT 
Director Laxminarayan shared his appreciation for the ability to meet at City Hall. He highlighted 
the positive feedback on Youth Services’ reorganization of collections which has improved 
accessibility. Director Laxminarayan also gave special recognition to Media Lab employee John 
Lacson for his exceptional and ongoing efforts to assist patrons. He also discussed an article in 
Forest and Bluff Magazine where the interviewee named the library as Lake Forest’s “best-kept 
secret.”  There was discussion and agreement amongst the Trustees. 
 
CONSENT AGENDA 
The consent agenda include:  
Consent Agenda (omnibus vote on matters 7(a) - 7(d):  
a. Approve December 17, 2024 Agenda  
b. Approve November 19, 2024 Regular Meeting Minutes  



Lake Forest Library Board of Trustees  
Regular Meeting Minutes  
December 17, 2024  
 
 
c. Approve November 2024 Financial Report  
d. Approve December 11, 2024 Finance Committee Meeting Minutes. 
 
No comments or proposed changes. Trustee Jackson moved to approve items 7a-d (as 
amended) to reflect that Trustee Pearson attended the November 19, 2024 meeting. The motion 
was seconded by Trustee Johnson.  The omnibus vote passed unanimously. 
   
SPECIAL PRESENTATION- Financial Overview by Elizabeth Holleb (City Finance Director) 
Ms. Holleb highlighted the positive, long-standing partnership between the library and the city, 
which provides accounting and financial services. Ms. Holleb discussed a projected 9.77% 
increase in the city’s assessed valuation, though this figure may decrease after Board of Review 
appeals (final numbers expected by April). Based on the previous year’ change in the Consumer 
Price Index, the library will see a 3.4% increase in its tax revenues in FY 2026 with an additional 
0.64% anticipated from new construction. Ms. Holleb explained that the Library levy accounts for 
3% of the total tax bill for a Lake Forest property. There was some general discussion amongst 
Trustees. The Trustees expressed their appreciation to Ms. Holleb and wished her well in her 
future endeavors. Trustee Sparrow presented Director Holleb with a token of appreciation from 
the Library Board and staff.  
 
SPECIAL PRESENTATION- Legislative Update by Trustee Johnson  
Trustee Johnson recapped the Illinois Library Association (ILA) meeting that took place on 
December 4 with area legislators and library directors. He recapped some of the highlights of 
the meeting including efforts to raise the bidding threshold for library construction projects 
(currently at $25,000) with adjustments for inflation as well as a proposal to address competitive 
book pricing for eBooks. Given the excessive cost of eBooks relative to print books, the ILA 
hopes to present a proposal in the Spring to mitigate these costs. Trustee Johnson also 
highlighted what a wonderful job Director Laxminarayan is doing and how fortunate we are to 
have him. 
 
SPECIAL PRESENTATION- Exterior Courtyards Restoration Presentation by Ken Itle (of 
WJE Associates) 
For historical context, on the state of the courtyards, Mr. Itle discussed them in their original 
state. When the library was built in 1931, it originally featured two enclosed courtyards with 8-
foot-high walls. These walls were shortened in 1957 for aesthetic and practical reasons. Notable 
changes to the courtyards in the 1970s included the removal of the central sidewalk. 
 
Current issues include: 

• Non-ADA-compliant access (thresholds, steps, and double doors). 
• Deteriorating masonry walls and poor drainage. 
• Limited lighting and safety hazards. 

 
Mr. Itle discussed the proposed restoration plan to address said issues as well as other 
indications of wear and tear. This proposal included rebuilding the courtyard walls using 
salvaged bricks and limestone where possible, with reinforced masonry for added strength. It is 
recommended to also grade the courtyards to match the interior lobby level for ADA 



Lake Forest Library Board of Trustees  
Regular Meeting Minutes  
December 17, 2024  
 
 
compliance, eliminating ramps and tripping hazards. Other key improvements include (but are 
not limited to): replacing the double doors with a single, wide door, addressing any water 
leakage issues and improving the waterproofing, enhancing drainage and replace deteriorating 
paving systems, upgrading the courtyard lighting and adding electrical outlets for better 
functionality. There is also consideration given to restoring the original 8-foot wall height and 
central sidewalk. 
 
A proposed time is as follows:  

• Design Development (Jan-Feb 2025) to finalize plans, gather community input, and 
create cost estimates. 

• Construction Documents (Mar-Apr 2025) and bidding. 
• Construction (summer 2025) with a target completion by early September 2025. 

 
Members of the Lake Forest Preservation Foundation were present including President Brian 
Norton. His recommendation was to consider raising the courtyard walls back to their original 
height of 8-feet but, also noted that could be a discussion for a later date. Library staff member 
Susan Athenson, who has also served as past president of the Lake Forest Preservation 
Foundation, noted that she had some questions about the project that she will communicate to 
Director Laxminarayan. Overall, Mr. Norton on behalf of the Preservation Foundation, offered his 
strong support and enthusiasm for the project.  
 
FINANCE COMMITTEE 
Trustee Sparrow began his overview by making two motions that required a vote as discussed 
earlier in Ms. Holleb’s report. First, was a motion to accept the audit as presented. This motion 
was seconded by Trustee Shaw which passed unanimously by all Trustees in attendance. 
Second, was a motion to approve the property tax levy. This motion was seconded by Trustees 
Shaw which passed unanimously by all Trustee in attendance.  
 
Trustee Sparrow then discussed the state of current investments, offering an overview of things: 
there is $2.2M invested through the Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) with the City and 
over $800,000 in Illinois Funds, in addition to $7.7 million in cash balances. Trustee Sparrow then 
discussed the proposal to modify the current MOU with the City to increase the investment cap 
from $4 million to $6 million, and to extend the maximum investment term from 3 years to 5 
years. Trustees debated flexibility for early withdrawals, ensuring funds remain accessible for 
capital projects. A motion to approve MOU modifications was made by Trustee Jackson, 
seconded by Trustee Van Bel. The motion passed with one abstention (Trustee Strong). 
 
OPERATIONS REPORT 
Director Laxminarayan touched on some new materials introduced to the library, including a new 
knitting machine for the Media Lab. He again highlighted the success of recent programming, 
including an extremely well attended kids’ program- a Reptile Show. He also unveiled a new 
promotional effort for the West Side vending machine through the creative use of book-themed 
candies with QR codes. Director Laxminarayan concluded his update noting that checking out 
mobile hotspots continue to be extremely popular among Lake Forest residents. 
 



Lake Forest Library Board of Trustees  
Regular Meeting Minutes  
December 17, 2024  
 
 
UNFINISHED BUSINESS 
None 
 
 
NEW BUSINESS  
Due to Director Laxminarayan’s absence in February, a request was made to cancel the 
February board meeting. A motion to cancel the February board meeting was made by Trustee 
Johnson, seconded by Trustee Jackson and approved unanimously by all Trustees in 
attendance.  
 
Director Laxminarayan kindly distributed gifts to the trustees on behalf of Library staff, thanking 
the trustees for their service and dedication. 
 
A motion to adjourn the meeting was made by Trustee Sparrow, seconded by Trustee Shaw. The 
meeting adjourned at 8:08 pm. 
 
 
  
_______________________________________________________________________  
Emily Van Bel, Secretary  
Submitted for approval by the Board on January 21, 2025 
  
  
Next meeting:  January 21, 2025  
 



   
 

Page 1 of 5 

Agenda Item 7(c)   

 
 
 
 
 



   
 

Page 2 of 5 

 
 

 
 



   
 

Page 3 of 5 

Lake Forest Library 
Financial Notes and Variance Report   

For the Month of December 2024 (Month 08) FY2025 
 

 
Funds on Hand: $4,751,256 (unrestricted/unaudited). The budget deficit of $1,914,826 will be adjusted at the end of the fiscal year from funds on hand    
  
General Operations - Revenues  
Property Tax: As of December 31, the Library received $4,982,775 in property tax distributions which is 100% of the annual budget. 
  
Non-Tax-Based: As of December 31, the Library received $73,675 in property tax distributions which reflects personal property tax $44,915 and per capita grant 
$28,760 payment which is 1% more than of the annual budget.  
  
Gifts: As of December 31, the Library received $16,083 as gifts and grants, which is 61% above the annual budget. 
 

Library-Generated: As of December 31, the Library received $24,313 in Library generated income. This income is from copiers, other revenue such as CCS and 
miscellaneous fees which is 1% more than the annual budget. 
 

Interest on Investment: As of December 31, the Library received $272,606 on interest on investment which is 70% above the annual budget. 
  
General Operations - Expenditures   
Salaries, wages, and benefits: As of December 31, $1,254,908 for salaries and wages: 56% of FY budget; $400,114 for benefits: 45% of FY budget. $240,590 for 
medical insurance 48% of FY budget; $93,706 for SSN: 48% of FY budget; $61,376 for IMRF: 34% of FY budget and $4,442 for Worker’s Compensation: 51% of FY 
budget.  
  
Materials: Books, AV, and Electronic Services: As of December 31, $410,059: 57% of FY budget, this includes payments for periodical and database subscriptions.  
  
Other Operating Expenditures: As of December 31, $370,486: 41% of FY budget. Includes $201,520 in library contractual services, including third payment of RFID 
lease of $24,041 to Bibliotheca and $168,967 for other expenses such as programs, administrative fees, office supplies, membership, and miscellaneous expenses.  
  
Building and Grounds: As of December 31, $177,544 which is 45% of the FY budget. Reflects the building insurance, contracts and service calls for building 
maintenance, the cleaning service, elevator, repairs and service for Boiler, HVAC, and other systems. 
  
Capital Improvement: As of December 31, $465,161: 22% of FY budget has been spent on the purchase of new servers, fire alarm, shifting with installation of new 
pumps and art pieces restored - Jackleen Leary sponsored by Friends of Lake Forest. This includes payment of $164,838 for HVAC control system, $70,122 down 
payment for elevator, payment of $69,400 for kiosk machine, and $41,500 for the investigation & schematic design of the courtyards project.  
  
Year to Date FY2025: 42% of budget expenses; 102% budget revenues. 
 
Reserves   
$4,751,256 - Operating cash reserve (fund balance-unassigned). The library’s restricted reserves are currently $3,650,000: capital equipment ($300,000), capital 
improvements (3,050,000), and technology ($300,000).   
  



   
 

Page 4 of 5 

 
Account Details 
 
 Contractual Services Library             

 
 
 
 
 
Contractual Service Building 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



   
 

Page 5 of 5 

Others 

 
 
 
Capital Improvement 

 
 



LAKE FOREST LIBRARY BOARD OF TRUSTEES 

Finance Committee Meeting Minutes – January 15, 2024 

Members Present: Trustee Vince Sparrow, Trustee John Johnson, Vice President JoAnn 
Desmond, Secretary Emily Van Bel, Trustee Heather Strong, Trustee Bob Shaw, Trustee Garth 
Pearson, Executive Director Ishwar Laxminarayan, Business Manager Leo Hamza, Facilities 
Manager Jim Lee 
 
The meeting commenced at 3:00pm. There was no public comment.  
 
Executive Director Ishwar Laxminarayan reviewed the December 2024 financial reports and 
projections through the end of fiscal year 2025. He noted that revenues are at 100%, with an 
additional $150,000 to $200,000 expected, primarily from interest on library investments. Total 
revenues are projected at $5.6 million by the end of FY 2025.   
 
Regarding expenses, Ishwar reported that some major capital improvement projects planned for 
FY 2025 are being deferred to FY 2026. There are several other smaller capital projects that we 
expect to complete by the end of FY 2025. Total expenses for FY2025 are projected to be 
approximately $5 million. 
 
Ishwar provided an update on major capital projects completed from 2021 to the present, 
including technology improvements, a new vending machine, HVAC upgrades, exterior lights, 
water abatement, dome restoration, mural restoration, security and safety enhancements, and 
an elevator upgrade. The total cost of these projects from FY21-25 was $2,793,711. He also 
outlined projects that are planned for the future including the Courtyards Restoration Project that 
has already been approved by the Board.  
 
Trustee Heather Strong presented an update from the Building Committee. She began by 
highlighting the committee's overarching goal: as the Centennial of the Lake Forest Library 
Building approaches in 2031, we are planning to preserve the library’s historical significance 
while enhancing and preparing it to serve the needs of future generations. The presentation was 
divided into three main phases: 
 
Centennial Projects: 
 
Phase 1: Dome & Mural Restoration 

• Phase 1A: Dome Restoration was successfully completed in July 2023, with a total cost 
of $1,120,800. 

• Phase 1B: Mural Restoration followed, finishing in March 2024, at a cost of $260,000. 
 

Phase 2: Preservation of Clark’s 1931 Spaces 
• Phase 2A: Courtyard Restoration is currently underway, with an expected completion 

date of September 2025.  
 

• Phase 2B: 1931 Historic Rooms Revitalization. Trustee Strong shared a draft Request 
for Qualifications for Interior Design/Interior Architectural Services that will be presented 
to the Library Board for approval on January 21, 2025.  
 



 
 

• Phase 3: Library Master Plan: 
• Phase 3A: Landscape Master Plan is scheduled to commence in Summer 2025.  

 
• Phase 3B: Architectural Master Plan is also planned to start in Summer 2025 and a 

separate Request for Qualifications will be issued in the next few weeks.  
 
Trustees had a broad discussion about all the projects presented and commended the Building 
Committee for its work. Trustees suggested several other projects for possible implementation 
and recommended an overall facility study to plan for anticipated facilities projects over the next 
5-10 years. They also emphasized that we should continually communicate these ongoing 
capital enhancements to the Lake Forest community.  
 
Construction cost estimates for the Exterior Courtyards project will be available by the end of 
February 2025. Staff will prepare a preliminary FY 2026 budget for review by the Finance 
Committee at its March 2025 meeting.  
 
In the investment update, Ishwar detailed the Lake Forest Library’s cash balances, as well as the 
current investment portfolio. Lake Forest City Council and the Library Board will be voting on 
January 21, 2025 to amend the current Memorandum of Understanding to extend the maturity 
period of the investments from the current 3 to 5 years and the total value of the investments 
from the current $4 million to $6 million.  
 
The next meeting is scheduled for Monday, February 10, 2025, at 3:00 PM.  
 
The meeting adjourned at 4:55 PM. 
 



 

Lake Forest Library Historic Rooms Proposal – Draft Page 1 of 6 
 

LAKE FOREST LIBRARY 
 

Centennial Projects: 1931 Historic Rooms Revitalization – Draft 
 

January 14, 2024 
 

REQUEST FOR INTERIOR DESIGN/ INTERIOR ARCHITECTURAL SERVICES 
 

 
The Lake Forest Library is seeking qualifications from interior architects/ designers with 
extensive experience in refreshing and preserving architecturally historic civic spaces. We are 
looking to restore, revive, and update the original 1931 public spaces of the Lake Forest Library.  
 
As it approaches its centenary year in 2031, the Lake Forest Library is in the midst of a series of 
capital projects (The Centennial Projects) to position the Library for its next hundred years of 
service to the community.  These projects consist of: 
 Phase 1: Dome and Mural Restorations – COMPLETE 
 Phase 2: Preservation of Clark’s 1931 Spaces 
  Phase 2A:  Courtyard Restoration – in progress, under separate contract 
  Phase 2B:  1931 Historic Rooms Revitalization – this document 
 Phase 3: Architectural and Landscape Master Planning - future 
 
 
The selected firm will engage with Library Building Committee, staff, community partners, 
trustees, patrons and interface with additional consultants, and other experts as needed. We 
expect the firm to identify, design and implement enhancements for the 1931 spaces. The Lake 
Forest Library expects the interior designer to partner with us in programming and studying 
space utilization, and to make suggestions for restoring and updating while preserving the 1931 
original space based on their experience. The Library would like the courtyards and the interior 
rooms described in this document completed simultaneously. The courtyards are scheduled to 
be completed early fall 2025, with the desired room completions at the same time or directly 
following, as advised by the selected firm. 
 
The Library was chartered on July 4, 1898 and moved to its current location in 1931. The 
present Library building, designed by architect Edwin H. Clark (who also designed the Brookfield 
Zoo and the Village Hall in Winnetka, Illinois), was dedicated on June 7, 1931. The building was 
designed and built as a Library and given as a gift to the City of Lake Forest by Mrs. Charles H. 
Schweppe and Mrs. Stanley Keith in memory of Mrs. Keith's first husband, Kersey Coates Reed.  
 
Designed in the Grecian Moderne style popular in the 1920s and 1930s, the Library is located in 
a National Register of Historic Places District. The building follows a classic symmetrical plan 
around a central domed rotunda, similar to the 1929 Shedd Aquarium in Chicago, Illinois. The 
building, its landscape, and its art is an excellent example of the Chicago Renaissance, the 
period from the 1893 World’s Columbian Exposition to the start of World War II. The rotunda 
houses the Kersey Coates Reed memorial stone relief of The Archer by Oskar J. W. Hansen 
(1892–1971) and a collection of twelve murals by Nicolai Remisoff (1887–1975) that depict the 
great poets and writers of antiquity. 
 



 

Lake Forest Library Historic Rooms Proposal – Draft Page 2 of 6 
 

In Phase 1 of the Centennial Projects the Library completed the restoration of its historic dome 
in 2023 and the repair, restoration and cleaning of the twelve Remisoff murals in 2024. Planning 
for Phase 2A, the restoration of the historic exterior courtyards of the library, began in spring 
2024 and is currently in the design document phase with construction completion targeted for 
early fall 2025.  These courtyards serve as extensions of the interior spaces. The 1931 interior 
rooms and the courtyards together comprise the original vision of Clark’s public spaces for the 
Library. 
 
Phase 2B: 1931 Historic Rooms Revitalization 
The scope of this phase is to restore, upgrade and refresh the interior areas of the 1931 historic 
library building to include new paint, carpet/flooring, lighting, appropriate furniture and 
furnishings, window treatments, flexible shelving, additional electrical outlets, signage and 
acoustic treatments. The Library also has an extensive collection of art that we would like to 
display in a more orderly and meaningful manner. It is important to preserve and repurpose as 
much of the existing 1931 millwork as possible. We envision more flexible and multipurpose 
spaces that can easily be adapted for a variety of needs.  
 
Work areas in Phase 2B include the following spaces:  
 

a. Entry Foyer – The foyer is the first interior space that patrons experience. It serves 
as a transition space, providing access down to the Children’s Library, through to the 
rotunda, and out to the courtyards.  Currently it is a multifunctional space; at times 
hosting a tutor working with a student, a pop-up technology class, or a book sale. 
This is also the designated space patrons can have snacks and make cellular calls. 
This area also has an important function serving as a meeting point for families or 
friends coming or leaving the library together. 

 
b. Rotunda – This is the heart of the library. Under the restored dome and surrounded 

by the Remisoff murals is the original built-in marble circulation desk. The memorial 
Bas relief commissioned by our original benefactor is featured prominently in the 
center of the north wall.  The always staffed circulation desk is where patrons are 
greeted, visitors check out books, and general inquiries are fielded. The former card 
catalog areas now feature new releases and staff highlighted collection items.  

 
c.  Friends’ Reading Room – The elegant historic reading room remains mostly true to 

its original design. It serves as the designated quiet reading room and with its cozy 
fireplace, is a perennial favorite spot of patrons. The room houses current 
newspapers and magazines, and is also becoming popular for patrons using 
computers and other devices. We expect this usage to remain basically the same, but 
would like to rethink the study and seating areas with new furniture and lighting that 
can be reconfigured to create different program or event spaces as needed. Also, as 
part of the Courtyard Project (Phase 2A), we are investigating the possibility of 
returning the original double hung windows to again be operable in this room to open 
to the western courtyard for special events. 

 
d. Reference Room – Flanking the opposite side of the Rotunda, the Reference Room 

mirrors the Friends’ Reading Room.  The perimeter of the Reference Room retains its 
original wood paneling, shelf alcoves, and end fireplace; however, a large built-in 



 

Lake Forest Library Historic Rooms Proposal – Draft Page 3 of 6 
 

Reference Desk and fixed large-format computer stations were installed in the late 
1990s.  The use of printed reference materials has dwindled, so this is a space where 
we envision creating a new unique patron experience, similar, but different, than the 
Reading Room. The Media Lab, Business Room, and the courtyards flank the 
Reference Room, but are not included in this contract. 

 
e. Courtyard Furnishings – Although restoration of the east and west courtyards will 

be completed in Phase 2A, outdoor furnishing for these areas is included in Phase 
2B.  As they have been conceived in Phase 2A, the west courtyard, flanking the 
Friends Reading Room is intended as a quiet reflective courtyard. And the east 
courtyard, adjacent to the Reference Room could be a more active, lively courtyard. 
 

The following are ancillary 1931 spaces. For the purpose of this proposal, these spaces are not 
included in the Phase 2B scope of work but please consider that these spaces will be part of the 
future Phase 3 and could potentially be added to Phase 2B should the successful planning of the 
prioritized spaces above allow.  The ancillary spaces include… 
 

f. Reference Annex – This space flanks the Reference Room and is used extensively 
by students and tutors as well as by patrons picking up books for their discussion 
clubs. The long tables have worked very well for a variety of uses – students working 
collaboratively on projects, tutors working with their students, other patrons working 
on local history, genealogy and other research projects. Staff envisions that this 
space will continue to be used in this manner.  

 
g. Reed Room – Located just beyond the Friend’s Reading Room (and connected by a 

seldom used door) this space is currently the only meeting room on the main floor. Its 
capacity is for 12-16 people seated at tables and a few more if chair only, format. 
Named for the original funders of the library, this room is used extensively for library 
sponsored programs, staff meetings and other events. We would like to restore, 
update and refresh this room with better lighting, carpet/flooring, state-of-the-art 
technology, drop-down screen, hearing loop and more comfortable seating and 
furniture.  During evening hours and finals week, this room is used by students 
studying and collaborating on team projects.  

 
h. Director’s Office – Just beyond the Reed Room is the Library Director’s Office.  It is 

large enough to accommodate a small meeting table and has an en-suite washroom.  
It has much of its original beautiful detailing and should be included in the further 
discussion of the 1931 spaces. 

 



 

Lake Forest Library Historic Rooms Proposal – Draft Page 4 of 6 
 

Evaluation Process and Criteria  

The RFQ will be a public RFQ. The RFQ and any addenda will also be available on the  Library 
website at: www.lakeforestlibrary.org/about-the-library/administration/requests-forproposals. 
 
The Library will select the firm based on its professed ability to meet the overall 
expectations of the Library. The Board of Trustees will be the judge of which Statement of 
Qualifications offers the greatest benefit to the Library. The following criteria will be used in the 
selection process: 
• Proposed Personnel Rates and Reimbursables 
• Proposed Project Schedule 
• Proposed Project Team 
• Proposed Design Approach 
• Quality of prior work experience presented. 
• Responsiveness and completeness of statement provided in response to the RFQ. 
• Experience and qualifications of the firm, including demonstrated 
knowledge of planning, management, evaluation skills, and experience. 
• Technical quality and methodology of firm’s approach to organizing and managing the 
Project and its ability to document information and recommendations clearly. 
• Understanding of project objectives and scope. 
• Ability of the interior designer to communicate with community stakeholders including Lake 
Forest Historic Preservation Commission, and others. 
• Experience in restoration of historic structures. 
• Past and current project experience. 
• References and examples of completed consulting projects. Satisfaction of former clients with 
competency of architect and completed work. 
• Overall project management and firm’s ability to accomplish a project of this nature within 
the proposed time schedule. 
 
 
Selection Process 
 
The Library’s Board of Trustees will review and evaluate the written submissions to the RFQ. The 
Board, at its discretion, may seek expert advice in reviewing the qualifications. Firms submitting 
the 
top ranked qualifications will be invited to participate in an on-site interview. The interview 
schedule 
and format will be announced later in the process. 
The Library’s Board of Trustees will evaluate, select organizations for interviews, check 
references, make the final decision, and negotiate a contract with the successful firm. 
The Library is under no obligation to make a selection under this RFQ, and it reserves the right 
to 
make any selection it chooses. The Library reserves the right to reject any and all qualifications 
at its sole discretion, accept a firm based on considerations other than cost, and waive or modify 
any provision of this RFQ. 
 
  

http://www.lakeforestlibrary.org/about-the-library/administration/requests-forproposals


 

Lake Forest Library Historic Rooms Proposal – Draft Page 5 of 6 
 

Submissions 
 
Submit five (5) printed copies and one (1) electronic copy no later than 5:00 pm (CT), Tuesday, 
February 25, 2025. 
Lake Forest Library 
360 East Deerpath Road 
Lake Forest, IL 60045 
ishwar@lakeforestlibrary.org 
The electronic submission should be sent via email, using the subject line RFQ 1931 Interior 
Refresh, to ishwar@lakeforestlibrary.org. 
Late submissions will not be accepted. Proposals will not be opened in public, and proposal 
information will be kept confidential until an award is made. An acknowledgement will be sent 
for each proposal received. 
The Submitted Proposal must include the below listed required information in the stated order. 
Submissions should not exceed 20 single-spaced pages. This limit does not include the cover 
letter and resumes. The submission may be printed single-sided. 
 
Required information 
 
The following should be included in the Submitted Proposal in the stated order: 
Introduction 
1. Cover letter with name, address, email, and phone 
2. Contact person’s name, address, email, and phone 
3. Statement of philosophy. 
4. A concise statement that demonstrates the firm’s understanding of the project and scope 
of services sought by the Library. 
5. Provide a proposed Project Schedule highlighting the milestones in both the design and 
execution phases. 
6. Description of the firm’s approach to the project process. 
7. Description of the implementation of the project. 
8. Description of any additional consultants that will perform work as part of your proposal. 
Provide names, addresses, and relevant experience for additional consultants. 
Organization History 
1. Number of years in business. 
2. Type of organization. 
3. Type of ownership, identify owners, partners, etc. 
4. Geographical areas of operation. 
Personnel 
1. Description of the size and composition of your firm. 
2. A team organizational chart. 
3. List of key personnel identifying the role of each key team member and the amount of 
their time that will be dedicated to the Project. Provide résumés for each key team 
member. 
4. List of potential third-party consultants, including but not limited to outside engineering 
firms. 
 
 
 



 

Lake Forest Library Historic Rooms Proposal – Draft Page 6 of 6 
 

 
Experience and References 
 
Please detail and show photos of three of your past project: 
1. A project that illustrates your view of historic preservation (preferably from the 1930s) 
2. A project that is for a civic or commercial client (preferably a library) 
3. And a favorite project of your choice, please state why this work was chosen. 
 
For each of the examples above: Please list SF of project, location of project, budget, year 
completed, and a brief statement of scope and challenges for that particular work. 
 
Please provide three client references, including contact information.  
In addition please provide three references from consultants, contractors, or product 
representatives, with included contact information. 
 
 
 
If you are interested in revitalizing and enhancing a beloved community institution, we would love 
to hear from you! Please send email of interest including a statement. If you would like to tour the 
library before submitting your application, please let us know and we would be happy to set it up 
for you.  
 
Selected applicants will be invited to interview with the Lake Forest Library’s Building Committee 
and representatives of the Lake Forest Preservation Foundation in February/ March 2025. We 
anticipate making a final selection by April 15, 2025.  
 

 
 
 
 
 



West Courtyard East Courtyard

Phase 2: Preservation of Clark’s 1931 Spaces

Phase 2A: Courtyard Restorations

Phase 2B: 1931 Historic Rooms

Reading Room Reference RoomRotunda

Foyer

Phase 2?: 1931 Ancillary Spaces

Reed

Dir.

Ref.
Annex



Building Committee:
Presentation to the Library Board
15 January 2025



The task for the Building Committee…

“As the centennial of our building approaches, how can 
we best position the Lake Forest Library for the next one 
hundred years?”



The task for the Building Committee…

“As the centennial of our building approaches, how can 
we best position the Lake Forest Library for the next one 
hundred years?”

- Assess the building and recent past projects 
- Define what projects are needed
- Create a timeline for projects
- Identify & hire professional consultants needed to 

lead initiatives



The Centennial Projects: 3 Phases of Capital Improvements



Phase 1: Dome and Mural Restoration 

Phase 1A: Dome Restoration
Completed: July 2023
Cost: $1,120,800



Phase 1: Dome and Mural Restoration 

Phase 1B: Mural Restoration
Completed: March 2024
Cost: $260,000



Phase 2: Preservation of Clark’s 1931 Spaces

“Why is this next?”…



Phase 2: Preservation of Clark’s 1931 Spaces

“Why is this next?”…

- Taking direction from the Library’s own 
Strategic Plan and Guidance from the 
HGA recommendations, “Preserving” 
the original 1931 public spaces of the 
library is a straightforward project that 
can be achieved quickly.



Phase 2: Preservation of Clark’s 1931 Spaces

Phase 2A: Courtyard Restoration
In Progress; estimated completion Sept 2025
Est Cost: $1,000,000 to $1,300,000

Phase 2B: 1931 Historic Rooms Revitalization
Starting Now; estimated completion Dec 2025
Est Cost: $750,000 to $1,000,000



Phase 2: Preservation of Clark’s 1931 Spaces

Phase 2A: Courtyard Restoration
Wiss Janney Elsner
work in progress, fee to date $116,290



Phase 2B: 1931 Historic Room’s RFQ



Phase 2B: 1931 Historic Room’s RFQ



Phase 2B: 1931 Historic Room’s RFQ



1/14/2025 

Lake Forest Library: The Centennial Projects 
PHASE DESCRIPTION STATUS CONSULTANTS/ 

CONTRACTORS 
PARTNERS BUDGET/ COST  

(inc. fees) 
GIFTS/ GRANTS 

Phase 1 Dome and Mural Restoration      

 Phase 1A Dome Restoration COMPLETED 
 July 2023 

Wiss Janney Elsner – Architect of 
Record, L. Marshall – General 
Contractor 

 $1,120,800 N/A 

 Phase 1B Mural Restoration COMPLETED  
March 2024 

Parma Conservation Friends of Lake Forest Library $260,000 Funded in full, $260,000, 
Friends of Lake Forest Library 

       

Phase 2 Preservation of Clark’s 1931 Spaces      

 Phase 2A Courtyard Restorations Planning IN PROGRESS 
Targeted completion Fall 2025 

Wiss Janney Elsner – Architect of 
Record Landscape Architect TBD 

 To date: $116,290 
Estimated total:  
$1,000,000 to $1,300,000 

 

 Phase 2B 1931 Historic Rooms Revitalization Planning in progress 
Targeted completion Fall 2025 

 Lake Forest Preservation Foundation 
Interior Designer TBD 

Budget Estimate: 
$750,000 to $1,000,000 

 

       

Phase 3 Library Master Plan      

 Phase 3A Landscape Master Plan Planning to start Summer 2025 
Targeted completion TBD 

 Landscape Architect TBD  
Lake Forest Garden Club 

Fee Estimate for FY 2026: 
$100,000 

 

 Phase 3B Architectural Master Plan Planning to start Summer 2025 
Targeted completion TBD 

 Lake Forest Library Foundation 
Friends of the Lake Forest Library 

Fee Estimate for FY 2026: 
$500,000 

 

       

       
       
       
       
       
       
       
       
       
       

 



Maintenance Services 2024 2025 Accept Service

Landscape Mantenance $14,060.00 $14,622.40

Total Maintenance: $14,060.00 $14,622.40

Additional Services

Spring Annuals $375.41 $390.43

Summer Annuals $414.95 $431.55

Fall Annuals $356.31 $370.56

Total for Additional Services: $1,146.67 $1,192.54

Grand Total For All Services: $15,206.67 $15,814.94

11/20/2024

Date Jim Lee Date

Lake Forest Hospital

For credit card and ACH payments, please visit https://www.marianilandscape.com/my-account

NOTE: A CONVENIENCE CHARGE IN THE AMOUNT OF 3% WILL BE APPLIED TO ALL PAYMENTS MADE VIA CREDIT CARD.

Electronic Payments

The Contract Specifications and Conditions of Contract are hereby incorporated into this contract. By signing above are

acknowledging that you have received the Conditions of Contract and Contract Specifications and have agreed to the payment terms

and information outlined here. A copy of the Conditions of Contract can be found here:

https://www.marianipremiergroup.com/LLC/CoC.pdf. A copy of the Contract Specifications can be found here:

https://www.marianipremiergroup.com/LLC/ML/ContractSpecifications.pdf.

Lake Forest Library 2025 Service Summary
360 E Deerpath Lake Forest

*Installment payments will be invoiced monthly. Monthly Installment Payments do not reflect work performed within that specific month.

Eliazar Arebalo

Mariani Landscape    300 Rockland Road, Lake Bluff, Illinois 60044    Tel: 847.234.2172    Fax: 847.234.2754

www.marianilandscape.com



DRAFT 12/18/24 

Page 1 of 3 
 

MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING 

 

THIS MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING (this “Agreement”) is made and 

entered into this ___ day of ____________, 2024 by and between THE CITY OF LAKE FOREST 

(the City), an Illinois home rule and special charter municipal corporation, and the LAKE FOREST 

LIBRARY (“the Library”), an Illinois local library organized under the Illinois Local Library Act. 

 
RECITALS 

A. The Library was chartered by the Lake Forest City Council on July 4, 1898.  The 

Library is a legally separate organization governed by a nine member Board of 

Trustees appointed by the Mayor of the City.   

 

B. The Library’s primary funding source for operations is the annual property tax levy, 

which the City adopts on the Library’s behalf based on the levy request adopted by 

the Library Board of Trustees. 

 

C. The City and Library have a longstanding and mutually beneficial operating 

partnership whereby the City provides administrative and financial-related support 

that includes the Library’s use of the City’s financial operating software (BS&A), 

banking services through the City’s depository, audit services through the City’s 

independent audit firm, and the City provides accounting, payroll, accounts payable 

and other related services.  This partnership provides efficiencies that reduce the 

overall cost burden to Lake Forest property taxpayers. 

 

D. This agreement is set forth to establish the parameters for the Library to participate 

in the City’s investment program with the eConnect Direct platform offered by 

Multi-Bank Securities. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual promises herein stated and other 

good and valuable consideration, the sufficiency of which is hereby acknowledged, the City and 

the Library hereby agree as follows: 

1) Investment Policy.  The City’s current investment policy was approved by the City 

Council in May 2022 and it provides that the policy “shall apply to Library funds 

managed and invested by the City on behalf of the Library.” The Library Board has 

reviewed the City’s current investment policy and acknowledges its application to 

the Library’s cash and investments held by the City, as well as to the fact that the 

City may amend its investment policy from time to time.  The City will notify the 

Library Board of future amendments or changes to its investment policy. The 

Library Board agrees to and will approve a resolution adopting the same investment 

policy as the City’s investment policy within thirty days from the date of this 

Agreement or any amendment to the City’s investment policy. 

 

2) Authorized Investment Types and Duration.  The Library Board has determined 

that any investment type authorized in the City’s approved Investment Policy shall 



DRAFT 12/18/24 

Page 2 of 3 
 

be permitted and shall be authorized by the Library’s investment policy.  The 

Library Board shall provide direction to the Library Executive Director regarding 

preferred investment types.  Any investment purchased on behalf of the Library 

must mature within three (3) five (5) years. 

 

3) Level of Authority.  The Library Board has or will designate the Library Executive 

Director as the Library’s Investment officer. Based on the Library’s investment 

policy, the Library Executive Director is authorized to initiate and approve any 

single investment up to $250,000.  Any single investment that exceeds $250,000 

must be approved by the Library Board’s Finance Committee. The City is 

authorized to make investment purchases at the direction of the Library Executive 

Director and is authorized to rely upon the Library Executive Director’s investment 

instructions without further inquiry, regardless of whether any purchase exceeding 

the Executive Director’s level of authority has been approved. The City is under no 

obligation to verify or confirm the required approval. The total face value of all 

Library investments through eConnect Direct shall at no time exceed $4,000,000 

$6,000,000. 

 

4) Cash Flow and Investment Maturities.  The City Finance Director and Library 

Executive Director will collaborate regarding the laddering of investment 

maturities to anticipate future Library cash flow needs.  In the event the Library 

experiences an unanticipated cash flow requirement, the City may, but is not 

required, to purchase the investment from the Library at its current book value.  

Should this occur, the City will transfer cash to the Library fund and record the 

corresponding investment to the City investment portfolio. 

 

5) Investment Transaction Procedures.  When the Library desires to purchase an 

investment, the City Finance Director and Library Executive Director shall consult 

and review various options using the eConnect Direct Platform.  The Library 

Executive Director will provide direction on the specific investment to purchase, at 

which time a confirmation email will be received and forwarded to the Library 

Executive Director.  The City shall initiate a wire transfer of cash from the Library’s 

operating cash account prior to the scheduled settlement date.  The wire transfer 

will require dual approval – one City Finance team member to initiate the wire 

transfer and a second City Finance team member to approve. 

 

6) Investment Accounting Procedures.  The City will create an account in the 

Library Fund general ledger entitled “Investments – Multibank Securities.”  Each 

investment purchase/maturity will be recorded to this account to show a current 

balance of active investments.  The City will also create an account in the Library 

Fund general ledger entitled “MBS Money Market.” This account will be used to 

account for any cash in escrow due to investment purchase/maturities or investment 

interest not yet transferred to the operating cash account.  Interest will be credited 

monthly to the Library Fund “Interest on Investments” account.  Library staff with 

access to the General Ledger will be able to view and report on activity posted to 

these accounts. 



DRAFT 12/18/24 

Page 3 of 3 
 

 

7) Commingling of Investments.  When City and Library funds are combined for 

investment purposes, the moneys combined for those purposes shall be accounted 

for separately in all respects, and the earnings from such investment shall be 

separately and individually computed, recorded, and credited to the agency and 

fund for which the investment was acquired.  

 

8) Investment Reporting Procedures.  The City will provide the Library a quarterly 

investment report as of July 31, October 31, January 31 and April 30. 

 

8)9) Revisions to Previous Agreement.  The City and Library acknowledge that this 

Agreement revises and supersedes a similar agreement dated July 23, 2024. 

 

 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Agreement to be executed 

by their respective and duly authorized representatives and caused their respective corporate seals 

to be affixed hereunto. 

 

THE CITY OF LAKE FOREST   LAKE FOREST LIBRARY 

 

By:       By:      

Jason Wicha, City Manager    Jim Clifton, President, Board of Trustees 

 

Dated: ________________________  Dated: __________________ 

 

 



Page 1

Illinois State Library 

ILLINOIS PUBLIC LIBRARY PER CAPITA AND  
EQUALIZATION AID GRANT APPLICATION 

As required by The Illinois Library System Act (23 Ill. Adm. Code 3030.200 (a)(2)(I) and (J)), to be eligible for funding, the 
applying public library shall have completed the Illinois Public Library Annual Report (IPLAR) and the annual certification 
process to confirm eligibility for grants administered by the Illinois State Library. 

The Library Board of Trustees agrees to expend the funds received for the purposes outlined in the application as ap-
proved by the Illinois State Library, and as stipulated by the Illinois Library Systems Act (75 ILCS 10/8 and 10/8.1) and Illi-
nois State Library Grant Programs (23 Ill. Adm. Code 3035.115 and 3035.135). 

The Library Board of Trustees affirms that all grant funds received as a result of this application shall be used to provide 
public library service to its community by supplementing the library’s regular budget and that it will not reduce, nor cause 
to have reduced, the public library’s levy in the current or next fiscal year. 

The Library Board of Trustees agrees that the Illinois State Library or its designee shall have the right to examine any of 
the records directly related to this grant. 

Legal Name of Library: _______________________________________________________________________________ 

Library’s Control Number:  ________________  Branch Number:  ________________  Today’s Date:  ________________   

Contact information of the person completing this grant application: 

Preparer’s Name: __________________________________    _________________________________________  

Preparer’s Title:   _____________________________________________________________________________ 

Preparer’s Phone Number:_______________________________________________________________________  

Preparer’s Email Address:________________________________________________________________________  

By checking this box, I certify: 1) that I have the authority to submit this application on behalf of the Library Board 
of Trustees, and 2) that the statements herein are true, complete and accurate to the best of my knowledge. The 
Library Board of Trustees is aware that any false, fictitious or fraudulent statements or claims may be subject to 
civil, criminal or administrative penalties.

ALEXI GIANNOULIAS • Secretary of State & State Librarian 
Illinois State Library, Gwendolyn Brooks Building 

300 S. Second St., Springfield, IL 62701-1796 

ilsos govilsos.gov

(First Name) (Last Name) 

 Printed by authority of the State of Illinois. January 2023 – 1 – LD A 179.11



Changes in the population count for the eligible service area must be documented and supporting information that details 
the increase or decrease shall be submitted electronically with this application. Documentation must include one of the 
following: 
 

A U.S. Census certification (e.g., correction or special census) that has been filed with the Office of the Secretary of •
State Index Department prior to submission of the application. 
 
For population changes, annexations or disconnects that are typically not documented by the U.S. Census, the library •
must submit appropriate and substantial supporting information, including a certified population count.  Examples in-
clude, but are not limited to: legal documentation from an appropriate municipal corporate authority or a library dis-
trict’s referenda questions and certified results. 

 
If the population has not changed, no additional documentation is necessary.  
 
Service Area Population ________________    
 
Part I.  Review of Serving Our Public 4.0: Standards for Illinois Public Libraries (© Illinois Library Association, 2019) 
 
To be eligible for a per capita grant, a public library shall show that it will either meet or show progress toward meeting 
the Illinois library standards as most recently adopted by the Illinois Library Association (75 ILCS 10/8.1). 
 
A grant applicant with below standard performance levels must raise or improve its performance levels in relation to the 
standards according to the objectives, time frames and priorities the library shall state in the application and which are 
consistent with the terms of the plan of service of the system of which it is a member. (23 ILAC 3035.115) 
 
The Library Director and the Board of Trustees shall review the entirety of Serving Our Public 4.0: Standards for Illinois 
Public Libraries. To complete this application, refer to the checklist at the conclusion of each chapter. 
 
 
Chapter 1: Core Standards 
      

Explain the objectives and priorities to be undertaken during the ensuing year to improve the library’s performance levels 
where the chapter’s standards are not met or the library is making progress toward meeting those standards. If the library 
meets all Core Standards, please indicate. (150 word limit) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 2



 
Chapter 2: Governance and Administration 

 
Explain the objectives and priorities to be undertaken during the ensuing year to improve the library’s performance levels 
where the chapter’s standards are not met or the library is making progress toward meeting those standards. If the library 
meets all components of the Governance and Administration checklist, please indicate. (150 word limit) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Chapter 3: Personnel 
 
Explain the objectives and priorities to be undertaken during the ensuing year to improve the library’s performance levels 
where the chapter’s standards are not met or the library is making progress toward meeting those standards. If the library 
meets all components of the Personnel checklist, please indicate. (150 word limit) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 Page 3



Chapter 4: Access 
 
Explain the objectives and priorities to be undertaken during the ensuing year to improve the library’s performance levels 
where the chapter’s standards are not met or the library is making progress toward meeting those standards. If the library 
meets all components of the Access checklist, please indicate. (150 word limit) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Chapter 5: Building Infrastructure and Maintenance 
 
Explain the objectives and priorities to be undertaken during the ensuing year to improve the library’s performance levels 
where the chapter’s standards are not met or the library is making progress toward meeting those standards. If the library 
meets all components of the Building Infrastructure and Maintenance checklists, please indicate. (150 word limit) 

Page 4



Chapter 6: Safety 
 
Explain the objectives and priorities to be undertaken during the ensuing year to improve the library’s performance levels 
where the chapter’s standards are not met or the library is making progress toward meeting those standards. If the library 
meets all components of the Safety checklist, please indicate. (150 word limit) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Chapter 7: Collection Management 
 
Explain the objectives and priorities to be undertaken during the ensuing year to improve the library’s performance levels 
where the chapter’s standards are not met or the library is making progress toward meeting those standards. If the library 
meets all components of the Collection Management checklist, please indicate. (150 word limit) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 5



Chapter 8: System Member Responsibilities and Resource Sharing 
 
Explain the objectives and priorities to be undertaken during the ensuing year to improve the library’s performance levels 
where the chapter’s standards are not met or the library is making progress toward meeting those standards. If the library 
meets all components of the System Membership Responsibilities and Resource Sharing checklist, please indicate. (150 
word limit) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Chapter 9: Public Services: Reference and Reader’s Advisory Services 
 
Explain the objectives and priorities to be undertaken during the ensuing year to improve the library’s performance levels 
where the chapter’s standards are not met or the library is making progress toward meeting those standards. If the library 
meets all components of the Reference Service checklist and the Reader’s Advisory Service checklist, please indicate. (150 
word limit) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 6



Chapter 10: Programming 
 
Explain the objectives and priorities to be undertaken during the ensuing year to improve the library’s performance levels 
where the chapter’s standards are not met or the library is making progress toward meeting those standards. If the library 
meets all components of the Programming checklist, please indicate. (150 word limit) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Chapter 11: Youth/Young Adult Services 
 
Explain the objectives and priorities to be undertaken during the ensuing year to improve the library’s performance levels 
where the chapter’s standards are not met or the library is making progress toward meeting those standards. If the library 
meets all components of the Youth/Young Adult Services checklist, please indicate. (150 word limit) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 7



Chapter 12: Technology  
Explain the objectives and priorities to be undertaken during the ensuing year to improve the library’s performance levels 
where the chapter’s standards are not met or the library is making progress toward meeting those standards. If the library 
meets all components of the Technology checklist, please indicate. (150 word limit) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Chapter 13: Marketing, Promotion and Collaboration 
 
Explain the objectives and priorities to be undertaken during the ensuing year to improve the library’s performance levels 
where the chapter’s standards are not met or the library is making progress toward meeting those standards. If the library 
meets all components of the Marketing, Promotion and Collaboration checklist, please indicate. (150 word limit) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 8



Part II: Planned Use of Grant Funds 
 
Describe objectives and priorities for use of grant monies to meet or improve performance levels in relation to the standards 
in Serving Our Public 4.0: Standards for Illinois Public Libraries (23 ILAC 3035.115). Use general categories in identifying ac-
tual planned expenditures. Do NOT include monetary figures or specific brands. 

Page 9



   
 

Operations Report December 2024  Page 1 of 14 
   
 

Library Operations Report 
December 2024 

 
 
Adult Services 
 
This Winter's Reading program Birds of a Feather is already off to a strong start. The Adult 
Winter Reading program began on December 15th and by the end of the month, we had 50 
patrons registered, with a total of 76 books logged. 21 patrons have already completed the 
program, meaning they have read 2 books, and have earned a free book prize. Patrons still have 
another month to participate, and we will do a drawing for a grand prize at the end of January.  
 
The Adult Services Department hosted several popular programs featuring this same theme. 
Our Kids & Families craft, Create a Birdseed Ornament event drew a nice group of over 30 
enthusiastic friends & families on a Saturday morning just before Christmas. They created 
pinecone feeders to take home for their yard. 
 
On a wintry Saturday morning, Lydia and Annalisa, two of our Librarians, shared the top choices 
for Best Books this Winter.  Those attending were entered in a raffle to win a copy of this 
spring's Read Between the Ravines book, Three Girls from Bronzeville: A Uniquely American 
Memoir of Race, Fate and Sisterhood by award winning Chicago journalist Dawn Turner. 
 

   
 
A delighted crowd learned new recipes and techniques from Susan Maddox when she 
presented the program Cooking Demo and Tasting: Holiday Appetizers & Canapes. 40 patrons 
not only learned something new they were able to sample a nice variety of party treats. 
 
  



   
 

Operations Report December 2024  Page 2 of 14 
   
 

This month's Memory Cafe hosted a musician who specializes in memory care programming. 
She encouraged attendees to sing and move along to the music and took requests for favorite 
and familiar tunes. The library continues our partnership with Dickinson Hall to host a space 
where patrons and their care partners can connect and receive support. 
 
Illinois Library Presents presentation of Little Women, the Musical had 17 registrants from Lake 
Forest. This joint Illinois Library program was a recording from the Park Theater stage 
production in London. 
 
December's Confetti Luminaria was enjoyed by 30 patrons. Librarian Krista continues to 
research, assemble and create these popular monthly Grab 'n' Go kits.  
 
Adult Services staff aided the Youth Department and Librarian Emmy Neal with this December's 
Exam Escape. Students took full advantage of our whiteboards, power strips, chargers and 
printers. All available furniture was occupied and the students received help from staff in 
printing, supplies, and returning lost power cords. 
 
Media Lab 
 
Two new items were introduced to the Takeout Tech collection. First, the addiExpress King 
Size Knitting Machine, a tool for creating scarves, ponchos, pillowcases, and Afghans. 
Second, the ANCEL Automotive Diagnostic Tool, a supplemental gauge that patrons can use to 
monitor parameters like engine speed, battery voltage, and check engine lights in their 
automobiles.  

In December, the Media Lab offered a wide array of festive programs and life-long learning 
opportunities. During the programs Sublimate Your Own Holiday Gifts and 3D Printing Holiday 
Cookie Cutters, patrons used the library’s newest technologies to create ornaments, cookie 
cutters, customized mugs, tote bags, and much more.  

       

During the programs Increase Your iPhone Expertise, Become a Self-Taught Learner, and Drop-
in Tech Tuesday patrons gained new knowledge and skills beyond formal education and were 
shown how to access a diverse set of library resources.  



   
 

Operations Report December 2024  Page 3 of 14 
   
 

Children’s Services  

 

   
 
Even the trustees enjoy the Design Center! The Children’s Staff added 7 crafts, made up 605 
kits and printed 670 coloring sheets. 
 
Fun Storytime at Open Lands! (pictured right) The Children’s Library staff hosted 19 Storytimes 
at First Presbyterian Preschool, Gorton Children’s Learning Center, Lake Forest Montessori 
School, and Little Scouts in December. 
 
  

   
 
Maddie, Claire, and Christian prepping for the Gingerbread House Challenge a popular 
annual event.  
 
78 adults and children in grades K–4 used their STEAM skills to design, build, and decorate  
their very own gingerbread houses.  
 



   
 

Operations Report December 2024  Page 4 of 14 
   
 

      
 

     
 
 
Young Adult Services 
 

   

December saw another successful Exam Escape! Over 5 days a total of 1709 students utilized 
the library to study, practice presentations, and do group work during the finals period. They 
went through about 7,500 notecards, 114 packs of Post-Its, and countless snacks. We received 
many positive comments from teens and their parents about this program and the excellent 
service the library provides during this time.  



   
 

Operations Report December 2024  Page 5 of 14 
   
 

     

Emmy and Ming continue to run the Teen Maker Studio in the Media Lab, and December 
focused on sublimation printing! Teens were able to make socks, tote bags, magnets and 
bookmarks. The Maker Studio sessions join the regular rotation of teen programs including 
Magic the Gathering and Chess Club. 

   

Emmy’s outreach to Deer Path Middle School focused on the Winter Reading Program and 
items that can be checked out from Takeout Tech (with their parent’s permission) and the video 
game collection, including Nintendo Switches and special controllers, Ring Fit Adventure, and 
Mario Kart Home Circuit. 7th and 8th grade students came down during their social studies, 
science, and lunch periods for Brain Breaks. The LFHS Book Club had their meeting for The 
Book Thief, which most of the students agreed was their favorite book of the year!  

Facilities 

On December 5, Inner Security installed upgraded smoke/heat detectors in the Fire Prevention 
System. The cost of the upgrade was $5,890.00. 

On December 8, the Library held its staff in service training. Facilities along with the Lake Forest 
Police Social Worker presented staff training addressing safety and how to respond during 
emergencies.  

On December 16, Parma Preservation repaired creases discovered in the murals on the East 
wall. The murals were ironed, and it has improved but more work will need to be done. Parma 
will be following up regarding the next steps in the process. 
 



   
 

Operations Report December 2024  Page 6 of 14 
   
 

Lake Forest Fire Department conducted the annual fire inspections on Wednesday, December 
18. We are happy to report the library passed without any issues. 
 
On Monday, December 19, Hill Mechanical was onsite to repair a leaky oil seal for one of the 
HVAC motors. The cost of the repair was $4,484.00.  
 
American Hoist delivered the new parts kit for the upcoming elevator project on December 19. 

The project is scheduled to start the week of January 06, 2025. 

Anchor Mechanical was onsite Monday, December 23 to replace the vacuum pressure switch 
on the condensation pumps. The work was completed at no cost and was part of the warranty.  

 
Circulation/Interlibrary Loan 
 
December is always busy with the holidays and Exam Escape happening. This year’s Exam 
Escape week showed some impressive numbers with all the students coming and going. This 
year included longer hours for our Sunday exam experience, 11:00 am–7:00 pm. The checkout 
counts were low (154) but not unusual for an average Sunday. Door counts were more 
impressive, with 690 people in and out compared with last year's 454. The busiest gate days 
were Monday, Tuesday and Wednesday coming in with 500-600 entry counts. 
 
Patrons lingered and purchased from the Friends Holiday Sale table and Circulation helped a bit 
making change for patrons to pay for their purchases. I suspect that the scan & pay was able to 
make it easier for patrons to make their donation. 
 

    
 
The Saturday Holiday Market at the West Train Station was a great opportunity for the Library to 
show off the new addition to our family, the library vending machine. Heidi and Sabrina were 
handing out chocolate “books” and had patrons playing games and trying the vending machine. 
They interacted with more than 200 people over the two Saturdays. We hope this will be an 
added destination spot for patrons on either side of town who find the sudden need for a book 
or movie. 



   
 

Operations Report December 2024  Page 7 of 14 
   
 

SELECTED UPCOMING EVENTS 
 
 
Wednesday, January 22, 2025  Interior Design Dos and Don’t’s 

Zoom, 7:00 pm – 8:00 pm 
 
 
Thursday, January 23, 2025   Love & Laughs with Michelle Buteau 
      Zoom, 7:00 pm – 8:00 pm 
 
 
Saturday, January 25, 2025   Drop-in-Robot Showcase 
      Kasian Room, 2:00 pm – 3:00 pm 
 
 
Tuesday, January 28, 2025   Post-Election Update with WGN-TV Political 

Analyst Paul Lisnek 
Zoom, 7:00 pm – 8:00 pm 
 

 
Tuesday, February 4, 2025   An Evening with James McBride 
      Zoom, 7:00 pm – 8:00 pm 
 
 
Tuesday, February 4, 2025   Sweet Treats of the Midwest 
      Zoom, 7:00 pm – 8:15 pm 
 
 
Saturday, February 8, 2025   Dude, Where’s My Shirt? T-Shirt Sublimation 
      Media Lab, 1:00 pm – 3:00 pm 
 
 
Wednesday, February 19, 2025  Slowing Down with Amy Tan 
      Zoom, 7:00 pm – 8:00 pm 
 
 
Sunday, March 2, 2025   The World of the Three Girls: A History of 

Bronzeville 
Kasian Room, 2:00 pm – 3:00 pm 

 

 

************************************************************ 



   
 

Operations Report December 2024  Page 9 of 14 
   
 

TOP TEN CIRCULATING ITEMS – December 2024 
 

By Format & Audience 
 

 e-Books 
Position Title Author      Circ 

1 The Women Hannah, Kristin 34 
2 All the Colors of the Dark Whitaker, Chris 22 
3 The Wedding People Espach, Alison 19 
4 Funny Story Henry, Emily 17 
5 The God of the Woods Moore, Liz 16 
6 First Lie Wins Elston, Ashley 15 
7 Table for Two: Fictions Towles, Amor 15 
8 Be Ready When the Luck Happens: A Memoir* Garten, Ina 14 
9 Intermezzo Rooney, Sally 13 

10 Fourth Wing Yarros, Rebecca 12 
11 Tell Me Everything Strout, Elizabeth 12 
12 The Grey Wolf Penny, Louise 12 

 *Denotes Nonfiction Title   
 
 
 

 e-Audiobooks 
Position Title Author       Circ 

1 Be Ready When the Luck Happens: A 
Memoir* 

Garten, Ina 20 

2 All the Colors of the Dark Whitaker, Chris 18 
3 The Anxious Generation* Haidt, Jonathan 17 
4 James: A Novel Everett, Percival 14 
5 Funny Story Henry, Emily 13 
6 Here One Moment Moriarty, Liane 13 
7 The Night We Lost Him Dave, Laura 13 
8 The Wedding People Espach, Alison 13 
9 Intermezzo Rooney, Sally 12 

10 Revenge of the Tipping Point* Gladwell, Malcolm  12 
11 The Women Hannah, Kristin 12 

 *Denotes Nonfiction Title   
 
 
 
 
 



   
 

Operations Report December 2024  Page 10 of 14 
   
 

 
 

TOP TEN CIRCULATING ITEMS - December 2024 
 

By Format & Audience 
 
 

 Adult Books   

Position Title Author Circ 

1 Remarkably Bright Creatures  Van Pelt, Shelby 39 
2 The Wedding People Espach, Alison 17 
3 The Demon of Unrest* Larson, Erik 15 
4 An Unfinished Love Story* Goodwin, Doris Kearns 14 
5 Three Girls from Bronzeville* Turner, Dawn 14 
6 To Die For Baldacci, David 14 
7 In too Deep Child, Lee 13 
8 All the Colors of the Dark Whitaker, Chris 13 
9 James  Everett, Percival 12 

10 The Heaven & Earth Grocery Store McBride, James 12 
 *Denotes Nonfiction Title   

 
 
 
 
 

 Children's Books   

Position Title Author Circ 

1 Harry Potter and the Sorcerer's Stone Rowling, J. K. 17 
2 The Snowy Day Keats, Ezra Jack 14 
3 No Brainer Kinney, Jeff 13 
4 The Scarlet Shedder Pilkey, Dav 12 
5 Summer of the Sea Serpent Osborne, Mary Pope 11 
6 Mary Anne's Bad Luck Mystery Cheng, Cynthia Yuan 10 
7 Happy New Year, Spot! Hill, Eric 10 
8 The Ugly Truth Kinney, Jeff 10 
9 Brawl of the Wild Pilkey, Dav 10 

10 Peppa Pig Story Treasury Astley, Neville 9 
 
 

  



   
 

Operations Report December 2024  Page 11 of 14 
   
 

TOP TEN CIRCULATING ITEMS – December 2024 
 

By Format & Audience 
 
 

                               Teen Books   

Position Title Author Circ 
1 Dr. Stone Inagaki, Riichiro 26 
2 Tokyo Rhoul: Re Ishida, Sui 10 
3 The Selection Cass, Kiera 6 
4 The Promised Neverland Shirai, Kaiu 5 
5 Scythe Shusterman, Neal 5 
6 Glass Sword Aveyard, Victoria 3 
7 The Final Gambit Barnes, Jennifer Lynn 3 
8 The Hawthorne Legacy Barnes, Jennifer Lynn 3 
9 The Cruel Prince Black, Holly 3 

10 What the River Knows Ibañez, Isabel 3 
 
 
 
 
 
 

                                                    NonBooks  

Position Title Circ 
1 Mobile Hotspot 37 
2 Children's Book Bags 29 
3 It Ends with Us DVD 15 
4 Take Out Tech: World Travel Adapter  15 
5 Take Out Tech : Nintendo Switch Console 14 
6 Twisters DVD 13 
7 Inside Out 2 DVD 10 
8 Deadpool & Wolverine DVD 10 
9 Beetlejuice Beetlejuice DVD 8 

10 Blink Twice DVD 8 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



   
 

Operations Report December 2024  Page 12 of 14 
   
 

 
TOP TEN CIRCULATING TITLES IN 2024 

 
Disclaimer: These are the top circulating items from Lake Forest Library collections in 2024, not 
the number of times our patrons checked out titles, which would include those sent from other 
libraries. These are Lake Forest Library collection-based stats, not patron-based. 
 
 
 
 Books, All Ages  

Position Title Circ 
1 The Heaven & Earth Grocery Store 272 
2 Tom Lake 249 
3 Hello Beautiful  201 
4 Demon Copperhead  174 
5 Escape from Mr. Lemoncello's Library** 169 
6 The Seven Husbands of Evelyn Hugo 138 
7 Group* 137 
8 Remarkably Bright Creatures  130 
9 Harry Potter and the Sorcerer's Stone** 125 

10 No Brainer Book 18** 
 
*Denotes nonfiction title 
**Denotes children’s title 

123 
 

 
 
 
 

eAudiobooks 
Position Title Author Circ 

1 The Women Hannah, Kristin 260 
2 Tom Lake Patchett, Ann 191 
3 Funny Story Henry, Emily 180 
4 First Lie Wins  Elston, Ashley 176 
5 The Heaven & Earth Grocery 

Store 
McBride, James 

147 

6 The Anxious Generation* Haidt, Jonathan 126 
7 None of This Is True Jewell, Lisa 112 
8 Just for the Summer Jimenez, Abby 99 
9 Never Lie McFadden, Freida 98 

10 Listen for the Lie Tintera, Amy 98 
 *Denotes nonfiction title   

 



   
 

Operations Report December 2024  Page 13 of 14 
   
 

TOP TEN CIRCULATING TITLES IN 2024 
 
 
 

eBooks 

Position Title Author Circ 
1 The Women Hannah, Kristin 373 
2 First Lie Wins Elston, Ashley 186 
3 The Heaven & Earth Grocery Store McBride, James 181 
4 Tom Lake Patchett, Ann 171 
5 Funny Story Henry, Emily 169 
6 Table for Two: Fictions Towles, Amor 145 
7 Fourth Wing Yarros, Rebecca 133 
8 Remarkably Bright Creatures Van Pelt, Shelby 128 
9 The Bee Sting Murray, Paul 116 

10 Iron Flame Yarros, Rebecca 105 
 



   
 

Operations Report December 2024  Page 14 of 14 
   
 

SERVICE STATISTICS – DECEMBER 2024 
 
 

 December 2024 December 2023 YTD FY 2025 YTD FY 2024 
     

Library Visits 15,432 14,361 114,576 104,399 
Physical 
Items 
circulated 

 
18,201 

 
18,052 

 
166,984 

 
164,761 

E-Media 
Circulated 

 
8,843 

 
9,156 

 
68,538 

 
70,795 

 
Database 
Uses 

 
16,725 

 
21,429 

 
110,137 

 
97,646 

Library 
Programs & 
Attendees** 

73 Programs 
 

5,794 Attendees 

49 Programs 
 

3,657 Attendees 

462 Programs 
 

31,124 Attendees 
 

458 Programs 
 

23,481 Attendees 

Media Lab, 1-
on-1 Appts, 
and Tutorials 

 
220 

 
87 

 
788 

 
524 

Reference 
Questions  

 
2,138 

 
2,108 

 
17,719 

 
18,733 

New Library 
Cards Issued 

 
88 

 
60 

 
997 

 
1,060 

Items added 
to collection 

 
763 

 
930 

 
7,453 

 
8,363 

Items 
withdrawn 
from 
collection 

 
1,044 

 
694 

 
12,393 

 
9,497 

 
*To conform to Illinois Public Library Annual Report (IPLAR) reporting guidelines, starting in FY 
2025, Freegal statistics are reported with Database Use and not with E-Media Circulation. 
 
**Includes passive programs and take-home activities 
 
 
 


	00 Agenda January 21, 2025 Board Meeting
	01a Agenda Item 6 Library Journal Directors Summit Article
	01b Agenda Item 6 Library makerspaces help enrich our communities - Chicago Sun-Times
	02 Agenda Item 6 Patron Comments December 2024
	03 Agenda Item 7b Draft Minutes December 17, 2024 Board Meeting
	04 Agenda Item 7c Month 08 December 2024 Finance Report
	05 Agenda Item 7d Finance Committee Meeting Minutes 1-15-2025
	06 Agenda Item 8a Library 1931 Historic Rooms RFQ
	06a Agenda Item 8a Phase 2 scope diagram
	06b Agenda Item 8a Centennial Projects Presentation
	Building Committee:�Presentation to the Library Board�
	The task for the Building Committee…
	The task for the Building Committee…
	The Centennial Projects: 3 Phases of Capital Improvements
	Phase 1: Dome and Mural Restoration 
	Phase 1: Dome and Mural Restoration 
	Phase 2: Preservation of Clark’s 1931 Spaces
	Phase 2: Preservation of Clark’s 1931 Spaces
	Phase 2: Preservation of Clark’s 1931 Spaces
	Phase 2: Preservation of Clark’s 1931 Spaces
	Phase 2B: 1931 Historic Room’s RFQ
	Phase 2B: 1931 Historic Room’s RFQ
	Phase 2B: 1931 Historic Room’s RFQ

	06c Agenda Item 8a Centennial Projects Matrix
	07 Agenda Item 9 Mariani Landscaping Services Contract 2025
	08 Agenda Item 10 Library City Investments MOU Revisions_Draft redlined
	09 Agenda Item 11 FY2025 Public Library Per Capita and Equalization Aid Grant Application  January 17 draft
	10 Agenda Item 12 Operations Report December 2024

	Legal Name of Library: Lake Forest Library
	Librarys Control Number: 30393
	Branch Number: 00
	Todays Date: 1/30/2025
	Preparers Name: Ishwar 
	Last Name: Laxminarayan
	Preparers Title: Executive Director
	Preparers Phone Number: (847) 810 4602
	Preparers Email Address: ishwar@lakeforestlibrary.org
	Pg1 certify check box: Yes
	Service Area Population: 19,367
	Page 2: With the exception of Core Standard 4 and Core Standard 19 which require the library to be located in a facility that complies with all applicable local, state and federal codes, the Lake Forest Library meets all Chapter 1 Core Standards. The Library completed the restoration and replacement of its historic Dome in August 2023 and has made significant investments in new heating and cooling systems, water mitigation and security cameras in its 1931 building.

The Library Board adopted a new Strategic Plan in 2024 based on community feedback that includes several initiatives, including an upgraded elevator, to address deficiencies in the library facility with respect to The Americans with Disabilities Act. We will shortly begin a project to restore and upgrade the historic exterior courtyards of the Library to make them more accessible to all residents. As we approach the centennial of the library building in 2031, we are also looking at several other projects to restore and revitalize the historic areas of our 1931 building and enhance access and services throughout the building. The Board will undertake community engagement and seek expert input to align the community's desired library services and resources with the needed facility improvements. 

Library staff routinely record interactions with patrons which are shared with the Library's Board of Trustees every month. These comments are generally very complimentary of the library and its staff and also provide numerous suggestions for enhancing services. 

The Library's Building Committee and Long Range Planning Committee meet regularly and report to the Library Board. 
	meets all components of the Governance and Administration checklist please indicate 150 word limit: The Library meets all components of the Governance and Administration checklist. The Board of Trustees approved a new Strategic Plan in 2024 that drew heavily on community and staff input. The Board has also appointed a Policies and Personnel Committee to review all its policies and procedures as part of its new Strategic Plan. Trustees regularly attend meetings with their peers from other libraries and local legislators to advocate for library funding and other issues.  
	meets all components of the Personnel checklist please indicate 150 word limit: The Library meets all components of the Personnel checklist. The Board approved hiring several new positions in 2024 to address staff shortages in key areas of the library. We will be conducting a market benchmarking study in the spring of 2025 to ensure that all our job descriptions are current and that salary schedules for all positions are competitive with market conditions. We are currently in the process of updating our personnel policies, with planned completion during the fall of 2025. Library staff attend local, regional, state and national conferences and participate in numerious other training workshops and seminars. 
	meets all components of the Access checklist please indicate 150 word limit: The LIbrary Board approved a new Strategic Plan that includes several initiatives, including an upgraded elevator, to address deficiencies in the library facility with respect to The Americans with Disabilities Act. We plan to work with local entities such as the City of Lake Forest and the Historic Preservation Foundation to enhance access and navigation in our 1931 facility and repurpose existing spaces to meet current needs of library patrons while preserving and enhancing the historical aspects of our building. We are continually working with the City of Lake Forest to find solutions to our limited parking facilities. 
	meets all components of the Building Infrastructure and Maintenance checklists please indicate 150 word limit: The Library Board approved a new Strategic Plan that includes several initiatives, including an upgraded elevator, to address deficiencies in the library facility with respect to The Americans with Disabilities Act. In 2024, the Library installed new HVAC Controls and a Building Automation system and has compiled a list of several other capital projects that will be implemented in a phased manner over the next several years. We also plan to work with local garden clubs to enhance landscaping all around the Library property. 
	meets all components of the Safety checklist please indicate 150 word limit: The Library meets all components of the Safety checklist. We regularly provide safety and security training to all employees and work closely with local enforcement to address safety and security issues affecting the Library. We plan to enhance cellular communications throughout the library building and install a public address system to alert patrons and staff in the event of a library evacuation.  
	meets all components of the Collection Management checklist please indicate 150 word limit: The Library meets all components of the Collection Management checklist. We are continually evaluating our collections to ensure they are relevant and current. In 2024, we added a new International Languages collection to meet the growing needs of our community. Staff continually monitor holds on library materials and purchase additional copies as necessary to meet the needs of our community residents. We have also designated members of our professional staff to manage our collection of electronic books and database resources. The Library installed a new book vending machine at a local METRA station to serve commuters and patrons in that section of the community who might not be able to visit the library building on a regular basis.  
	word limit: The Library meets all components of the System Membership Responsibilities and Resource Sharing checkist. Along with several other members of our local consortium, we joined the Find More Illinois interlibrary loan platform in 2024 to provide our patrons with enhanced access to library collections across the state of Illinois. The Library is a member of the Reaching Across Illinois Library Systems (RAILS) and staff members serve on different committees in our local Cooperative Computer Services consortium (CCS). 
	word limit_2: The Library meets all components of the Reference Service checklist and the Reader's Advisory Service checklist. We plan to review and update our reference service policy this year. Multiple reading programs are offered for all ages, including book discussions and summer and winter reading. Special displays and booklists highlight new and existing titles and collections.
	meets all components of the Programming checklist please indicate 150 word limit: The Library meets all components of the Programming checklist. We are continually seeking opportunities to partner with other community organizations to offer programs and other enrichment opportunities to community residents. Our Youth Services has expanded its outreach to area institutions and now conducts programs and other enrichment activities at area schools, daycares and preschools. We currently offer two large signature author events, one collaboratively with our neighbor, Lake Bluff Public Library, and both events including supporting programs, writing workshops, and an interview with the author. 
	meets all components of the YouthYoung Adult Services checklist please indicate 150 word limit: The Library meets all components of the Youth/Young Adult Services checklist. We host several hundred high school students each year during Finals Week to provide them with a safe and welcoming space to study and collaborate. Our Young Adult Librarian is constantly planning fun and innovative ways to draw tweens and teens into the library. In addition to the 1000 Books Before Kindergarten program, the Library initiated a 100 Books Before Graduation exclusively for teens to promote a love of books. While patrons of all ages are covered in our Reference and Program policies, we will consider instituting a separate policy for Youth or address youth more specifically/robustly in the other policies.  
	meets all components of the Technology checklist please indicate 150 word limit: The Library meets all components of the Technology checklist. We have added more staff to our Media Lab to provide assistance to local residents with their creative projects. We also expanded our Take Out Tech and Accessibility collections to serve our community residents. 
	meets all components of the Marketing Promotion and Collaboration checklist please indicate 150 word limit: The Library meets all the components of the Marketing, Promotion and Collaboration checklist. We have launched a special promotion to enroll new residents as library cardholders and have just subscribed to a new community engagement tool to enhance our marketing and outreaching efforts to local residents, particularly those who do not use the library. A library website refresh is planned for the upcoming year.
	actual planned expenditures Do NOT include monetary figures or specific brands: The Library plans to use awarded grant funds as follows:Technology Standard 14:  The Library continuously strives to improve its technological services, resources and access. 


